Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Vaccine

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vaccine



# Lode Schuerman<sup>a</sup>, Dorota Borys<sup>a</sup>, Bernard Hoet<sup>a,\*</sup>, Arne Forsgren<sup>b,1</sup>, Roman Prymula<sup>c,1</sup>

<sup>a</sup> GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Rixensart/Wavre, Belgium

<sup>b</sup> Medical Microbiology, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Malmö University Hospital, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden

<sup>c</sup> Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Kralove, Czech Republic

# ARTICLE INFO

# ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 30 April 2009 Received in revised form 16 July 2009 Accepted 22 July 2009 Available online 8 August 2009

Keywords: Protein D Invasive pneumococcal disease Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) Otitis media Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine Streptococcus pneumoniae Acute otitis media (AOM), one of the most common childhood diseases, is associated with a substantial medical, social and economic burden. Non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* (NTHi) and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* are the two main causes of bacterial OM. The 7-valent pneumococcal CRM<sub>197</sub>-conjugate vaccine (7vCRM, *Prevnar*<sup>TM</sup>/*Prevenar*<sup>TM</sup>, Wyeth) demonstrated efficacy against AOM caused by vaccine pneumococcal serotypes. Protection against overall AOM was also observed with an 11-valent pneumococcal protein D-conjugate vaccine (11Pn-PD) in the Pneumococcal Otitis Efficacy Trial (POET). Following POET, an optimized 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV; *Synflorix*<sup>TM</sup>, GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals) was developed. This vaccine includes serotypes 1, 5, and 7F, in addition to those already included in 7vCRM, and was recently licensed in Europe for active immunization against invasive disease and AOM caused by *S. pneumoniae* in infants and children from 6 weeks up to 2 years of age. The use of protein D as carrier protein permits avoidance of possible interferences known to occur with some conjugate vaccines, and has the added potential benefit of providing protection against NTHi. This review seeks to highlight the recent advances in the field of OM vaccination, with a focus on data regarding the recently licensed PHiD-CV.

© 2009 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

*l*accine

# Contents

1	Introduction	F740
1.	Introduction	. 5748
2.	Pneumococcal conjugate vaccines	.5749
	2.1. 7vCRM, the first generation	. 5749
	2.2. 11Pn-PD, the prototype vaccine	.5749
	2.2.1. Protein D as an antigen candidate	.5749
	2.2.2. Protective effect of NTHi protein D	.5750
	2.3. PHiD-CV	. 5750
3.	Conclusions	. 5752
	Disclosure statement	. 5752
	Conflict of interest	. 5752
	Acknowledgements	.5752
	References	. 5752

# 1. Introduction

Acute otitis media (AOM) is one of the most frequent childhood diseases with the incidence peaking among children aged between 6 and 18 months [1]. Approximately three in four children will have developed at least one episode of AOM by the age of 3 years [2], with more than one-third of children experiencing recurrent infections (defined as three or more episodes within 6 months) [1]. Recurrent AOM has a considerable negative impact on the quality of life of children, and causes concern to their caregivers [3]. It is a common reason for both physician visits [4–6] and antibiotic prescriptions [7–9], resulting in a significant burden on healthcare systems.

The direct costs associated with AOM are substantial [10–12]. A Finnish study estimated that in total, each single attack of AOM cost \$US228 when the children in the survey had 1.5 attacks of AOM per person year [10]. The majority of the economic burden of AOM stems from indirect costs primarily accounted for by parental time, averaging 84–90% of the total cost of the illness [13].



<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +32 10 85 81 25; fax: +32 10 85 91 35.

E-mail address: bernard.hoet@gskbio.com (B. Hoet).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The authors Arne Forsgren and Roman Prymula have contributed equally to this work.

Non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae (NTHi) and Streptococcus pneumoniae are the two main causes of bacterial OM [14-17], and the disease is a major cause of doctor consultations and antibiotic prescriptions [18,19] which are increasingly recognised as the main selective pressure driving antibiotic resistance [20]. The high prevalence of drug-resistant pathogens such as penicillin-resistant *S. pneumoniae* and β-lactamase producing or other ampicillinresistant H. influenzae are complicating factors in OM management [21]. A study carried out in the US between 1992 and 2003 revealed that the proportion of  $\beta$ -lactamase producing *H. influenzae* isolates increased from 56% before, to 64% after 7vCRM introduction [22]. Increased resistance to penicillin, macrolides, cotrimoxazole, amoxicillin-clavulanate as well as multi-drug resistance were reported between 2000 and 2004 among non-vaccine serotypes of S. pneumoniae [23]. The clinical relevance of this phenomenon is still unknown, and debate continues as to whether increased resistance among pneumococci has been accompanied by an increased rate of treatment failure [24]. Preventing infectious diseases through vaccination may however reduce the need for antibiotics and the selective pressure exerted by their use on nasoand oropharyngeal bacterial pathogens [25].

The evolving etiology of OM also complicates treatment and case management. Since the introduction of the 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (7vCRM, *Prevnar*<sup>TM</sup>/*Prevenar*<sup>TM</sup>, Wyeth), the relative proportion of AOM cases caused by NTHi has increased [16,22,26]. NTHi is a difficult-to-treat pathogen, more often associated with bilateral OM, treatment failure, recurrent episodes, spontaneous rupture of the tympanic membrane and acute mastoiditis [27–29].

In the last few years, progress has been made in the development of vaccines against OM pathogens. Given the large burden of OM (e.g. economic, societal, related to antibiotic consumption), prevention may be the best option for disease management. The objective of this review is to highlight the recent advances in the field of vaccination against AOM, with a special focus on a new 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV; *Synflorix*<sup>TM</sup>, GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals).

#### 2. Pneumococcal conjugate vaccines

#### 2.1. 7vCRM, the first generation

7vCRM was the first pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV) available and was introduced in the US in 2000. It contains the pneumococcal serotypes 4, 6B, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F and 23F, each conjugated to CRM<sub>197</sub> (a non-toxic, cross-reacting mutant of diphtheria toxin). 7vCRM has demonstrated noticeable efficacy against invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) [30–32], but has some limitations. Firstly, whilst 7vCRM was estimated to cover 80–90% of serotypes responsible for IPD in young children in North America and Australia, its serotype coverage can be considerably lower in other parts of the world especially Africa, Latin America and Asia [33,34]. Secondly, since 7vCRM introduction in the US, non-vaccine serotypes, notably serotypes 1, 7F and 19A, have been increasingly found in children with IPD [35–40].

In the Finnish Otitis Media (FinOM) study, 7vCRM reduced the number of AOM episodes due to serotypes contained in the vaccine by 57% (95% CI: 44 to 67), and culture-confirmed pneumococcal episodes by 34% (95% CI: 21 to 45) [41]. The number of AOM episodes attributed to cross-reactive serotypes (i.e. 6A, 9N, 18B, 19A and 23A) was also reduced by 51% (95% CI: 27 to 67). However, these encouraging results in the prevention of AOM due to vaccine- or cross-reactive serotypes have been eroded by the apparent replacement of vaccine serotypes with non-vaccine serotypes, as well as by an increased incidence of AOM caused by otopathogens other than S. pneumoniae [41]. Children in the 7vCRM group had 33% (95% CI: -1 to 80) more episodes of AOM caused by non-vaccine pneumococcal serotypes, 11% (95% CI: -34 to 8) more AOM episodes caused by H. influenzae. As a result, subjects receiving 7vCRM had only 6% (95% CI: -4 to 16) fewer episodes of AOM overall [41], a number that was very close to the 7% reduction of overall clinical AOM episodes observed in the large US efficacy trial (95% CI: 4.1 to 9.7) [42]. Interestingly, administration of another 7-valent prototype vaccine (7-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide-meningococcal outer membrane protein complex conjugate vaccine (PncOMPC; Merck)) to a third arm in the same study resulted in an apparent 27% (95% CI: -70 to 6, not significant) more episodes of AOM caused by nonvaccine serotypes, 9% (95% CI: -32 to 10, not significant) more AOM episodes due to H. influenzae and 16% (95% CI: -36 to 2, not significant) more AOM episodes caused by M. catarrhalis [43]. Overall, there was virtually no difference in term of occurrence of clinical AOM episodes of any cause between both groups (difference PncOMPC minus control group = 1% with 95% CI: -12 to 10) [43].

After widespread use of the 7vCRM vaccine, its effect on OM has been greater than expected [41,42,44–46]. Vaccination with 7vCRM was shown to reduce the number of outpatient visits for OM by 20% (95% CI: 2 to 38) in children aged < 2 years [45], to reduce the incidence of frequent OM (by 17% in Tennessee and 28% in New York children) and to reduce the incidence of pressure-equalizing tube insertions (by 16% in Tennessee and 23% in New York children) [46].

Another PCV including 13 serotypes also conjugated to CRM that contains the additional serotypes 3, 6A and 19A is currently under development.

#### 2.2. 11Pn-PD, the prototype vaccine

Partially addressing the problem of emergence of pneumococcal strains not contained in the 7vCRM vaccine, expanded pneumococcal conjugate vaccine formulations were designed that include additional serotypes such as serotypes 1, 5 and 7F that are highly invasive [40,47-50]. An 11-valent pneumococcal NTHi protein Dconjugate vaccine (11Pn-PD), containing pneumococcal serotypes 1, 5 and 7F as well as serotype 3, in addition to the pneumococcal serotypes already included in 7vCRM was developed as the prototype of PHiD-CV. The serotypes 6A and 19A have not been included in the formulation because a cross-protection with 6B and 19F was expected. All serotype polysaccharides contained in the 11Pn-PD vaccine were conjugated to H. influenzae protein D. The rationale for using protein D as carrier protein was primarily to avoid possible carrier mediated suppression and bystander interference known to occur with some conjugate vaccines using either tetanus or diphtheria toxoids as carrier protein [51,52]. Additionally, it was also expected that the use of protein D would have the potential of providing protection against infections caused by NTHi, based on the positive experience with protein D containing vaccines in infants and in animal models [53,54]. This would have the advantage of addressing the problem of bacterial shift observed in the FinOM study [41,43].

# 2.2.1. Protein D as an antigen candidate

Protein D has properties which makes it a good candidate for a carrier protein with antigenic properties. It is a highly conserved lipoprotein found in all *H. influenzae* strains [55–57], with limited drift observed in the encoding gene [58]. It is exposed on the cell surface [58,59], is a critical NTHi virulence factor in respiratory tract infections [56,57] and it plays a role in the pathogenesis of NTHi infection [59,60]. Mutants lacking the *hpd* gene which code for protein D are 100-fold less infectious than the wild type strain in a rat otitis model [59]. In addition, in a human nasopharyngeal tissue culture model, protein D caused a significant decrease in ciliary

beat frequency and increased loss of cilia [60]. Protein D expression was also shown to promote adherence and internalization of NTHi into human monocytic cells [61], but its exact role in adhesion and invasion remains to be determined.

#### 2.2.2. Protective effect of NTHi protein D

Anti-protein D antibodies have shown protective efficacy in animal models of NTHi OM [54,62–64]. A pronounced activity of protein D antibodies has been observed in a chinchilla AOM model, which closely mimics human AOM infection [54,64]. Passive immunization by transfer of human serum from children vaccinated with two protein D-conjugated vaccine formulations (a 4-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine) conferred approximately 34% protection against the development of OM due to NTHi [54]. Although the authors could not rule out the contribution of other antibodies contained within these human sera, the results indicated that the protection was largely attributable to vaccine induced antiprotein D antibodies present in the passively transferred serum [54].

The Pneumococcal Otitis Efficacy Trial (POET) evaluated the efficacy of 11Pn-PD in preventing AOM [65]. The POET trial was the first to show a protective efficacy against AOM episodes caused by NTHi. In addition, there was a remarkable similarity between the overall vaccine efficacy against AOM episodes caused by pneumococcal vaccine serotypes in POET (57.6%; 95% CI: 41.4 to 69.3) [65] and that of 7vCRM (57%; 95% CI: 44 to 67) [41] and 7v-PncOMPc (56%; 95% CI: 44 to 66) [43] in the FinOM trial. However, in POET no apparent increase in the incidence of AOM caused by pneumococcal serotypes not contained in the vaccine or other bacterial pathogens was recorded over the study period [65].

In POET, a highly significant protective efficacy of 11Pn-PD was shown against clinical AOM episodes (33.6%, 95% CI: 20.8 to 44.3), AOM episodes confirmed by aspiration of middle ear fluid (32.4%, 95% CI: 19.0 to 43.6), culture-confirmed bacterial AOM episodes (42.1%, 95% CI: 27.7 to 53.7) and culture-confirmed pneumococcal AOM episodes (51.5%, 95% CI: 36.8 to 62.9) [65]. The efficacy against the first episode of AOM (of any cause) persisted for at least 18 months (Fig. 1) [Prymula, personal communication, 2009]. Both vaccine serotype pneumococcal AOM episodes (57.6%; 95% CI: 41.4 to 69.3), and AOM episodes caused by vaccine-related cross-



**Fig. 1.** Cumulative hazard curve for the first occurrence of acute otitis media (of any cause) during per protocol follow-up after administration of the 11-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (11Pn-PD) or hepatitis A vaccine in POET [Prymula, personal communication, 2009].

reactive pneumococcal serotypes including 6A and 19A (65.5%; 95% CI: 22.4 to 84.7) were also reduced [65].

Furthermore, a significant protective efficacy against AOM episodes caused by NTHi (35.3%; 95% CI: 1.8 to 57.4) was demonstrated in POET [65].

#### 2.3. PHiD-CV

Following POET, the prototype 11Pn-PD vaccine formulation was refined and the final PHiD-CV formulation was developed. The PHiD-CV vaccine formulation includes serotypes 1, 4, 5, 6B, 7F, 9V, 14, 18C, 19F and 23F (1, 5 and 7F in addition to those already included in 7vCRM). Serotype 3 was not maintained in the final vaccine formulation since clinical experience with 11Pn-PD generated unexpected results for this serotype compared to the other vaccine pneumococcal serotypes, in particular the lack of protection against AOM due to serotype 3 [65,66], and the generation of an atypical immune response [53,65,67]. All of the polysaccharides in PHiD-CV are conjugated to the NTHi-derived protein D carrier, with the exception of serotypes 18C and 19F, for which immunogenicity was improved by conjugation to tetanus and diphtheria toxoids, respectively [68,69].

#### Table 1

Summary of studies which examined the immunogenicity of PHiD-CV or 11Pn-PD.

ID study number	Study groups included in reverse cumulative distribution curves	Vaccination schedule	Patient population	Country	Reference
Study 10Pn001 (10553/NCT00307554)	PHiD-CV + DTPa-HBV-IPV/Hib except for dose 2 in France (co-administered with IPV/Hib)	Three primary doses at 2, 3 and 4 months of age	Healthy infants aged 6–12 weeks at 1st vaccination	Finland, France and Poland	[69]
Study 10Pn010 (107017/NCT00370318)	PHiD-CV + DTPa-HBV- IPV/Hib + HRV without prophylactic antipyretic medication	Three primary doses at 3, 4 and 5 months of age	Healthy infants aged 9–16 weeks at 1st vaccination	Czech Republic	[70]
Study 10Pn011 (107005/NCT00334334)	PHiD-CV + DTPa-HBV- IPV/Hib + MenC-CRM PHiD-CV + DTPa-HBV- IPV/Hib + MenC-TT PHiD-CV + DTPa- HBV-IPV + Hib-MenC	Three primary doses at 2, 4 and 6 months of age	Healthy infants aged 6-16 weeks at 1st vaccination	Germany, Poland and Spain	[68]
Study 10Pn012 (107007/NCT00344318)	PHiD-CV + DTPw-HBV/Hib + IPV	Poland: three doses at 2, 4 and 6 months of age	Healthy infants aged 6–12 weeks at 1st vaccination	Poland	[71]
Study 11PnPOET (347414/NCT00119743)	11Pn-PD + DTPa-HBV-IPV/Hib	Three primary doses at 3, 4 and 5 months of age	Healthy infants aged 6 weeks-5 months at 1st vaccination	Czech and Slovak Republics	[65]

PHiD-CV: 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (*Synflorix*<sup>™</sup>, GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals). 11Pn-PD: 11-valent pneumococcal vaccine conjugated to protein D (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals).



**Fig. 2.** Reverse cumulative distribution curve for (a) pneumococcal serotype concentrations (μg/ml) and (b) OPA titres of pneumococcal serotypes 6B, 14, 19F and 23F, 1 month after 3 primary 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) doses in the European studies 10Pn001, 10Pn010 (non-antipyretic group only), 10Pn011 and 10Pn012 (Polish patients only), or following 3-doses of 11-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (11Pn-PD) priming in POET.



**Fig. 3.** Reverse cumulative distribution curve for anti-protein D antibody concentrations ( $\mu$ g/ml) 1 month after 3 primary 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) doses in the European studies 10Pn001, 10Pn010 (non-antipyretic group only), 10Pn011 and 10Pn012 (Polish patients only), or following 3-doses of 11-valent pneumococcal non-typeable *H. influenzae* protein D-conjugate vaccine (11Pn-PD) in POET.

In order to evaluate whether efficacy of the PHiD-CV vaccine against AOM can be based on the AOM efficacy demonstrated for the 11Pn-PD vaccine in POET, immune responses (in terms of ELISA antibody concentrations and functional opsonophagocytic activity (OPA)) measured 1 month following 3-dose PHiD-CV primary vaccination were compared to those measured with the prototype 11Pn-PD vaccine in POET, for those pneumococcal serotypes for which a statistically significant protective efficacy could be demonstrated in POET. These, taken together contributed to 70% of all vaccine serotype pneumococcal AOM cases in the efficacy analysis (serotypes 6B, 14, 19F and 23F). Data from several European PHiD-CV studies were used (see Table 1 for more details). Reverse cumulative distribution curves were plotted for pneumococcal antibody concentrations (µg/ml) and OPA titres (Fig. 2) and anti-PD antibody concentrations (Fig. 3). Antibody concentrations and OPA titres below the assay cut-off were assigned a value of half the assay cut-off (i.e. 0.025 µg/ml for 22F-ELISA and 4 for OPA assay). For study 10Pn010 [70], antibody concentrations and OPA titres are plotted for the PHiD-CV group that did not receive prophylactic antipyretic therapy, since lower post-primary immune responses were noted in this study for subjects that received prophylactic paracetamol [70]. For study 10Pn012 [71], antibody concentrations and OPA titres are presented for Polish subjects only.

Despite the changes in vaccine formulation, immune responses for the 4 serotypes for which a statistically significant efficacy against AOM could be demonstrated in POET were in the same ranges as those observed for PHiD-CV (Fig. 2a and b). The effect of PHiD-CV and 11Pn-PD on vaccine serotype pneumococcal AOM can therefore be expected to be comparable. Some schedule effect was observed for serotypes 6B and 23F (with lowest responses observed in study 10Pn001; 2–3–4 months schedule) [69].

Antibody responses against protein D with the prototype 11Pn-PD vaccine formulation were also in the same range as those measured with the final PHiD-CV vaccine formulation (Fig. 3). In addition, the biological activity of anti-PD antibodies following 3-dose primary vaccination with 11Pn-PD or PHiD-CV was compared in a chinchilla OM model [72]. Novotny et al. [72] compared the protective capacity of human pediatric sera obtained after immunization with the prototype 11Pn-PD or the final 10-valent PHiD-CV formulation in the chinchilla OM model and found that the peak incidence of OM was 87.5% on days 11–14 in the control animals, 53.3% on days 10 and 12 for the PHiD-CV group, and 56.3% on day 10 for the 11Pn-PD group. As a whole, these results suggest that both

PHiD-CV and 11Pn-PD induce similar immune responses against the NTHi-derived PD carrier protein, and therefore suggest that PHiD-CV and 11Pn-PD might provide similar protection in children against AOM caused by NTHi.

#### 3. Conclusions

OM is a frequently occurring, yet preventable, childhood disease associated with a high degree of morbidity and impaired quality of life, and places a considerable economic burden on healthcare resources. The disease is also a major driver of antibiotic consumption which feeds the problem of antibiotic resistance. Prevention of the disease is therefore a strategy which could allow all of these issues to be addressed simultaneously. Using protein D from NTHi as an active carrier protein for pneumococcal polysaccharides may have the advantage of providing broader protection due to the protection against AOM caused by both *S. pneumoniae* and NTHi.

#### **Disclosure statement**

Synflorix is a trademark of the GlaxoSmithKline group of companies. Prevnar/Prevenar is a trademark of Wyeth Lederle.

## **Conflict of interest**

R Prymula is a consultant to GSK and has received travel grants or honoraria within the past three years. A Forsgren has received consulting fees in the past three years and has patent applications. D Borys, L Schuerman and B Hoet are employees of GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals and have stock ownership.

#### Acknowledgements

This publication has been sponsored and reviewed by GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals. The authors thank Dr. Frederik Fierens (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Belgium) for constructive discussions and critical appraisal of the manuscript and Patricia Lommel and Nancy François (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Belgium) for statistical analyses. They also thank Dr. Ruth Murray (LiveWire Communications, UK) who provided medical writing services on behalf of GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Dr. Valentine Wascotte (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals, Belgium) and Karen Palmer (LiveWire Communications, UK) for publication coordination.

# References

- [1] Klein JO. Otitis media. Clin Infect Dis 1994;19:823-32.
- [2] Cripps AW, Otczyk DC, Kyd JM. Bacterial otitis media: a vaccine preventable disease? Vaccine 2005;23:2304–10.
- [3] Brouwer CN, Rovers MM, Maillé AR, Veenhoven RH, GrobbeeDE, Sanders EA, et al. The impact of recurrent acute otitis media on the quality of life of children and their caregivers. Clin Otolaryngol 2005;30:258–65.
- [4] Melegaro A, Edmunds WJ, Pebody R, Miller E, George R. The current burden of pneumococcal disease in England and Wales. J Infect 2006;52:37–48.
- [5] Kvaerner K, Liese J, Arguedas A, Pelton S, Dean C, Schilder A.A multinational survey highlights the clinical burden of children with otitis media. Presented at the 26th annual European society for paediatric infectious disease. 2008 [abstract].
- [6] Stolk E, Mangen MJ, Wolleswinkel J, LaPlante S.Healthcare use and societal burden due to childhood otitis media in 7 EU countries. Presented at the 26th annual European society for paediatric infectious disease. 2008 [abstract].
- [7] Froom J, Culpepper L, Grob P, Bartelds A, Bowers P, Bridges-Webb C, et al. Diagnosis and antibiotic treatment of acute otitis media: report from International Primary Care Network. Br Med J 1990;300:582–6.
- [8] Schilder AMG, Lok W, Rovers MM. International perspectives on management of acute otitis media: a qualitative review. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2004;68:29–36 [Review].
- [9] Godfroid F, Moudoulaud J.A multi-country analysis of antibiotic use for otitis media in children aged 5 years or younger. Presented at 26th annual meeting of the European society for paediatric infectious diseases. 2008 [abstract].

- [10] Niemelä M, Uhari M, Möttönen M, Pokka T. Costs arising from otitis media. Acta Pediatr 1999;88:553–6 [Original article] See also comment in Alsarraf R. and Gates G.A. Acta Paediatr 1999;88:487–8.
- [11] Petit G, De Wals P, Law B, Tam T, Erickson LJ, Guay M, et al. Epidemiological and economic burden of pneumococcal diseases in Canadian children. Can J Infect Dis 2003;14:215–20.
- [12] American Academy of Pediatrics and American Academy of Family Physicians Clinical Practice Guideline. Diagnosis and management of acute otitis media. Pediatrics 2004;113:1451–65.
- [13] Alsarraf R, Jung CJ, Perkins J, Crowler C, Alsarraf NW, Gates GA. Measuring the indirect and direct costs of acute otitis media. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1999;125:12–8.
- [14] Gehanno P, Panajotopoulos A, Barry B, Nguyen L, Levy D, Bingen E, et al. Microbiology of otitis media in the Paris, France, area from 1987 to 1997. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2001;20:570–3.
- [15] Leibovitz E, Jacobs MR, Dagan R. Haemophilus influenzae. A significant pathogen in acute otitis media. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004;23:1142-55.
- [16] Pichichero ME. Evolving shifts in otitis media pathogens: relevance to a managed care organization. Am J Manag Care 2005;11:S192–201.
- [17] Guevara S, Soley C, Arguedas A, Porat A, Dagan R. Seasonal distribution of otitis media pathogens among Costa Rican children. Pediatr J Infect Dis 2008;27(1):12–6.
- [18] Plasschaert AI, Rovers MM, Schilder AG, Verheij TJ, Hak E. Trends in doctor consultations, antibiotic prescriptions, and specialist referrals for otitis media in children: 1995–2003. Pediatrics 2006;117:1879–86.
- [19] Finkelstein JA, Metlay JP, Davis RL, Rifas-Shiman SL, Dowell SF, Platt R. Antimicrobial use in defined populations of infants and young children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2000;154:395–400.
- [20] Goossens H, Ferech M, Vander Stichele R, Elseviers M, ESAC Project Group. Outpatient antibiotic use in Europe and association with resistance: a crossnational database study. Lancet 2005;365(9459):548–9.
- [21] Yamanaka N, Hotomi M, Billal DS. Clinical bacteriology and immunology in acute otitis media in children. J Infect Chemother 2008;14(3):180–7.
- [22] Block SL, Hedrick J, Harrison CJ, Tyler R, Smith A, Findlay R, et al. Communitywide vaccination with the heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate significantly alters the microbiology of acute otitis. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004;23:829–33.
- [23] Farrell DJ, Klugman KP, Pichichero M. Increased antimicrobial resistance among non-vaccine serotypes of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in the pediatric population after the introduction of 7-valent pneumococcal vaccine in the United States. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26:123–8.
- [24] Bishai WR. Clinical significance of pneumococcal resistance and factors influencing outcomes. Treat Respir Med 2005;4(Suppl. 1):19–23.
- [25] Whitney CG, Klugman K. Vaccines as tools against resistance: the example of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Semin Pediatr Infect Dis 2004;15:86–93.
- [26] Casey JR, Pichichero ME. Changes in frequency and pathogens causing acute otitis media in 1995–2003. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004;23:824–8.
- [27] Arguedas A, Dagan R, Soley C, Loaiza C, Knudsen K, Porat N, et al. Microbiology of otitis media in Costa Rican children, 1999 through 2001. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2003;22:1063-8.
- [28] Leibovitz E, Asher E, Piglansky L, Givon-Lavi N, Satran R, Raiz S, et al. Is bilateral acute otitis media clinically different than unilateral acute otitis media? Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26:589–92.
- [29] Pichichero ME, Casey JR, Hoberman A, Schwartz R. Pathogens causing recurrent and difficult-to-treat acute otitis media, 2003–2006. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2008;47:901–6.
- [30] Black S, Shinefield H, Baxter R, Austrian R, Bracken L, Hansen J, et al. Post licensure surveillance for pneumococcal invasive disease after use of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in Northern California Kaiser Permanente. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004;23:485–9.
- [31] Grijalva CG, Nuorti JP, Arbogast PG, Martin SW, Edwards KM, Griffin MR. Decline in pneumonia admissions after routine childhood immunisation with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in the USA: a time-series analysis. Lancet 2007;369:1179–86.
- [32] Vestrheim DF, Lovoll O, Aaberge IS, Caugan TDA, Hoiby EA, Bakke H, et al. Effectiveness of a 2 + 1 dose schedule pneumococcal conjugate vaccination programme on invasive pneumococcal disease among children in Norway. Vaccine 2008;26:3277–81.
- [33] Hausdorff WP, Bryant J, Paradiso PR, Siber GR. Which pneumococcal serogroups cause the most invasive disease: implications for conjugate vaccine formulation and use, part I. Clin Infect Dis 2000;30:100–21.
- [34] GAVI PneumoADIP Report. Pneumococcal regional serotype distribution for pneumococcal AMC TPP. Codebook to assess whether a pneumococcal vaccine meets the pneumococcal AMC target product profile for regional vaccine serotype coverage; November 2008. Available at: http://www.vaccineamc.org/files/TTP.Codebook.pdf.
- [35] Beall B, McEllistrem MC, Gertz Jr RE, Wedel S, Boxrud DJ, Gonzalez AL, et al. Pre and postvaccination clonal compositions of invasive pneumococcal serotypes for isolates collected in the United States in 1999, 2001 and 2002. J Clin Microbiol 2006;44:999–1017.
- [36] Hicks LA, Harrison LH, Flannery B, Hadler JL, Schaffner W, Craig AS, et al. Incidence of pneumococcal disease due to non-pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (7VCRM) serotypes in the United States during the era of widespread 7VCRM vaccination, 1998–2004. J Infect Dis 2007;196:1346–54.
- [37] Aguiar SI, Serrano I, Pinto FR, Melo-Cristino J, Ramirez M, Portuguese Surveillance Group for the Study of Respiratory Pathogens. Changes in *Streptococcus* pneumoniae serotypes causing invasive disease with non-universal vaccina-

tion coverage of the seven-valent conjugate vaccine. Clin Microbiol Infect 2008;14(9):835-43.

- [38] Grivea IN, Panagiotou M, Tsantouli AG, Syrogiannopoulos GS. Impact of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on nasopharyngeal carriage of penicillin-resistant *Streptococcus pneumoniae* among day-care center attendees in central Greece. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008;27(6):519–25.
- [39] Munoz-Almagro C, Jordan I, Gene A, Latorre C, Garcia-Carcia JJ, Pallares R. Emergence of invasive pneumococcal disease caused by non-vaccine serotypes in the era of 7-valent conjugate vaccine. CID 2008;46:174–82.
- [40] Obando I, Munoz-Almagro C, Arroyo LA, Tarrago D, Sanchez-Tatay D, Moreno-Perez D, et al. Pediatric parapneumonic empyema, Spain. Emerg Infect Dis 2008;14(9):1390–7.
- [41] Eskola J, Kilpi T, Palmu A, Jokinen J, Haapakoski J, Herva E, et al. Efficacy of a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against acute otitis media. N Engl J Med 2001;344:403–9.
- [42] Black S, Shinefield H, Fireman B, Lewis E, Ray P, Hansen JR, et al. Efficacy, safety, and immunogenicity of heptavalent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine in children Northern California Kaiser Permanente Vaccine Study Center Group. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2000;19:187–95.
- [43] Kilpi T, Ahman H, Jokinen J, Lankinen KS, Palmu A, Savolainen H, et al. Protective efficacy of a second pneumococcal conjugate vaccine against pneumococcal acute otitis media in infants and children: randomized controlled trial of a 7valent pneumococcal polysaccharide-meningococcal outer membrane protein complex conjugate vaccine in 1666 children. CID 2003;37:1155–64.
- [44] Palmu A, Jokinen J, Kilpi T. Impact of different case definitions for acute otitis media on the efficacy estimates of a pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Vaccine 2008;26:2466–70.
- [45] Grijalva CG, Poehling KA, Nuorti JP, Zhu Y, Martin SW, Edwards KM, et al. National impact of universal childhood immunization with pneumococcal conjugate vaccine on outpatient medical care visits in the United States. Pediatrics 2006;118:865–73.
- [46] Poehling KA, Szilagyi PB, Grijalva CG, Martin SW, LaFleur B, Mitchel E, et al. Reduction of frequent otitis media and pressure equalizing tube insertions in children after introduction of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine. Pediatrics 2007;119:707–15.
- [47] Brueggemann AB, Peto TEO, Creek DW, Butler JC, Kristinsson KG, Spratt BG. Temporal and geographic stability of the serogroup-specific invasive disease potential of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in children. J Infect Dis 2004;190:1203–11.
- [48] Hausdorff WP, Feikin DR, Klugman KP. Epidemiological differences among pneumococcal serotypes. Lancet 2005;5:83–93.
- [49] Hausdorff WP. The roles of pneumococcal serotypes 1 and 5 in paediatric invasive disease. Vaccine 2007;25(13):2406–12.
- [50] Rückinger S, von Kries R, Siedler A, van der Linden M. Association of serotype of Streptococcus pneumoniae with risk of severe and fatal outcome. Pediatr Infect Dis | 2009;28(2):118–22.
- [51] Dagan R, Goldblatt D, Maleckar JR, Yaich M, Eskola J. Reduction of antibody response to an 11-valent pneumococcal vaccine coadministered with a vaccine containing acellular pertussis components. Infect Immun 2004;72:5383–91.
- [52] Dagan R, Poolman JT, Zepp F. Combination vaccines containing DTPa-Hib: impact of IPV and co-administration of CRM197 conjugates. Expert Rev Vaccines 2008;7(1):97–115.
- [53] Nurkka A, Joensuu J, Henckaerts I, Peeters P, Poolman J, Kilip T, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of the eleven valent pneumococcal polysaccharideprotein D conjugate vaccine in infants. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004;23(11): 1008–14.
- [54] Novotny LA, Jurcisek JA, Godfroid F, Poolman JT, Denoel PA, Bakaletz LO. Passive immunization with human anti-protein D antibodies induced by polysaccharide protein D conjugates protects chinchillas against otitis media after intranasal challenge with *Haemophilus influenzae*. Vaccine 2006;24: 4804–11.
- [55] Akkoyunlu M, Ruan M, Forsgren A. Distribution of protein D, an immunoglobulin D-binding protein, in *Haemophilus* strains. Infect Immun 1991;59:1231–8.
- [56] Poolman JT, Bakaletz L, Cripps A, Denoel PA, Forsgren A, Kyd J, et al. Developing a nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* (NTHi) vaccine. Vaccine 2000;19(Suppl. 1):108–15.
- [57] Forsgren A, Riesbeck K, Janson H. Protein D of Haemophilus influenzae: a protective nontypeable H. influenzae antigen and a carrier for pneumococcal conjugate vaccines. Clin Infect Dis 2008;46:726–31.
- [58] Duim B, Ruiter P, Bowler LD, Dankert J, van Alphen L. Sequence variation in the hpd gene of non-encapsulated *Haemophilus influenzae* isolated from patients with chronic bronchitis. Gene 1997;191:57–60.
- [59] Janson H, Melhus A, Hermansson A, Forsgren A. Protein D, the glycerophosphodiester phosphodiesterase from *Haemophilus influenzae* with affinity for human immunoglobulin D, influences virulence in a rat otitis mode. Infect Immun 1994;62:4848–54.
- [60] Janson H, Carlén B, Cervin A, Forsgren A, Magnusdottir AM, Lindberg S, et al. Effects on the ciliated epithelium of protein D-producing and -non-producing nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* in nasopharyngeal tissue cultures. J Infect Dis 1999;180:737–46.
- [61] Ahren IL, Janson H, Forsgren A, Riesbeck K. Protein D expression promotes the adherence and internalization of non-typeable *Haemophilus influenzae* into human monocytic cells. Microb Pathog 2001;31(3):151–8.
- [62] Akkoyunlu M, Janson H, Ruan M, Forsgren A. Biological activity of serum antibodies to a nonacylated form of lipoprotein D of *Haemophilus influenzae*. Infect Immun 1996;64:4586–92.

- [63] Kyd JM, Cripps AW. Potential of a novel protein, OMP26, from non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae to enhance pulmonary clearance in a rat model. Infect Immun 1998;66:2272–8.
- [64] Bakaletz LO, Kennedy BJ, Novotny LA, Duquesne G, Cohen J, Lobet Y. Protection against development of otitis media induced by nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae* by both active and passive immunization in a chinchilla model of virus-bacterium superinfection. Infect Immun 1999;67(6): 2746–62.
- [65] Prymula R, Peeters P, Chrobok V, Kriz P, Novakova E, Kaliskova E, et al. Pneumococcal capsular polysaccharides conjugated to protein D for prevention of acute otitis media caused by both *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and nontypeable *Haemophilus influenzae*: a randomised double-blind efficacy study. Lancet 2006;367:740–8.
- [66] Schuerman L, Prymula R, Henckaerts I, Poolman J. ELISA IgG concentrations and opsonophagocytic activity following pneumococcal protein D conjugate vaccination and relationship to efficacy against acute otitis media. Vaccine 2007;25:1962–8.
- [67] Schuerman L, Prymula R, Chrobok V, Dieussaert I, Poolman J. Kinetics of the immune response following pneumococcal PD conjugate vaccination. Vaccine 2007;25:1953–61.

- [68] Wysocki J, Tejedor C, Grunert D, Konior R, Garcia-Sicilia J, Knuf M, et al. Immunogenicity of the 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) when co-administered with different Neisseria meningitidis serogroup C conjugate vaccines. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009;28:577–88.
- [69] Vesikari T, Wysocki J, Chevallier B, Karvonen A, Czajka H, Arsene J-P, et al. Immunogenicity of the 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) compared to the licensed 7vCRM vaccine. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009;28:S66–76.
- [70] Prymula R, Siegrist CA, Chlibek R, Zemlickova H, Vackova M, Smetana J et al. Limited clinical benefit but reduced antibody responses to pediatric vaccines following prophylactic paracetamol/acetaminophen administration, Lancet (2009), In press.
- [71] Bermal N, Szenborn L, Chrobot A, Alberto E, Lommel P, Gatchalian S, et al. The 10-valent pneumococcal non-typeable Haemophilus influenzae protein D conjugate vaccine (PHiD-CV) co-administered with DTPw-HBV/Hib and poliovirus vaccines: assessment of immunogenicity. Pediatr Infect Dis | 2009;28:S89–96.
- [72] Novotny L, Bakaletz L, Poolman, Denoel P. 10-Valent protein-D conjugate vaccine induces protection against NTHi otitis media in a chinchilla model. Rotterdam, Netherlands: HinMax; 2008 [abstract].